IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY PRENELL JONES

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-2017-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Erin E. Pridgen, MS Bar No Post Office Box 3510 Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3510 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Anthony Prenell Jones

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY PRENELL JONES

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-2017-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING JONES AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER A FATALLY DEFECTIVE INDICTMENT

- a. Standard of Review
- b. The Prosecution Should Not Have Been Allowed to Amend the Indictment by Changing the Dates of Jones' Prior Convictions
- c. The Amended Indictment Was Ineffective Because the Trial Court Failed to Include the Order Allowing Amendment

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Forrest County Circuit Court, Forest County, Mississippi. Anthony P. Young was convicted of armed robbery, as a habitual offender, pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81 (1972). The Honorable Robert B. Helfrich presided over the jury trial that was held December 2-3, 2010. Following the jury's guilty verdiet, the conducted a separate sentencing bearing. The court sentenced Young to serve twenty-five years (25) years, without the



benefit of parole, in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections

Aggrieved, Young filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, motion for a new trial. The court denied these motions and Young timely files this appeal. Young is currently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In late summer, a masked robber entered the Circle K Convenience Store in Hattiesburg, Mississippi, and demanded money from the store clerk. The store was empty, except for the robber and Samuel Chappell - the store clerk.

The robber pointed a .22 revolver handgun at the Chappell's face and motioned for him to take the money out of the register. Chappell took the money from both of the store's registers. After failing in his attempt to lead Chappell to the back of the store, the robber instructed Chappell to lay down behind the counter. Looking for even more money, the robber searched for the keys to the store's safe. Unsuccessful, he decided to leave with a couple of cartons of cigarettes. He dropped several packs of cigarettes on the counter and the floor as he left.

Chappell stayed on the ground until after the robber fled the store. He called the police and they reviewed the store's surveillance tape together. Chappell told the police that he did not see the robber's face, but he did give the police a brief description of the robber's clothing and appearance.

Officer Stephen Harris was one of the responding officers on the scene. He discovered that the robber took two cartons of cigarettes and money from the convenience store. Crime scene analysts collected fingerprints from several fallen packages of cigarettes in the store. Jon Byrd, a latent print examiner, compared these prints to the known prints of Anthony Jones. Byrd concluded that three of the collected prints belonged to Jones.

After police reviewed the fingerprint results, an arrest warrant was issued for Jones at his mother's apartment. Police did not look for any other suspect after they received the information concerning the fingerprints. Jones was placed under arrest and his mother consented to a search.

Police took shoes, money, receipts, a box of bullets, stocking hoodie hats, and a .22 cartridge out of the bedroom where Jones slept. They took a .22 revolver that was located inside a pair of rubber boots, behind the refrigerator, in the kitchen area. They also found money under the cushion of the couch. At trial, the defense objected that there was no link shown between the robbery and these obtained items, however, the court overruled the objection.

The jury found Jones guilty of armed robbery. Following the jury's verdict, the prosecution sought to charge Jones as a habitual offender by amending Jones' indictment to have him sentenced ander the recidivism-statute, Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81. The prosecution introduced the following out-of-state convictions against Jones:

- (1) On **October 7, 2002**, Jones was convicted in Cause No. 02-009352-FH-U in Genesse County, Michigan for the felony of Attempted Unlawful Driving Away an Automobile and sentenced to twenty to thirty months (20-30).
- (2) On October 7, 2002, in Cause No. 02-010651-FH-R in Genesse County, Michigan, Jones was convicted of felony Attempted Police Officer Fleeing Third Degree, and sentenced to twenty to thirty months (20-30), with both sentences to be served in the Michigan Department of Corrections.

Relying on the dates listed in the indictment, defense counsel objected that Jones' previous convictions on October 7, 2002 – Cause No. 02-009352-FH-U and Cause No. 02-010651-FH-R — were actually a part of the same occurrence. The defense's theory was that Jones was ineligible for sentencing under the habitual offender statute because his convictions were a part of the same occurrence. At the sentencing hearing, however, the prosecution informed the court that the first amended indictment ("habitual offender indictment") contained an error and once corrected, the



Officer-3rd degree) should have been **November 15, 2002**. According to the prosecution, Jones was actually convicted of two offenses on October 7, 2002 and one offense on November 15, 2002.

Defense counsel objected to any changes in the already amended indictment. The court neither addressed the state's motion to again amend the habitual offender indictment, nor entered an order amending the indictment. This is evidenced by the habitual offender indictment contained in the appellate record, as well as the trial court's sentencing order, which still lists the same conviction dates for both cause numbers.

Instead of addressing the amendment to the habitual offender indictment, the court simply moved forward with an abbreviated analysis of whether or not the charges in the indictment arose out of separate incidents. Although not recorded, the court allowed the amendment to the habitual effender indictment. After finding Jones' previous convictions were applicable under the statute, the court sentenced Jones as a habitual offender to twenty-five (25) years, without the possibility of parole.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

How many bites of the apple must the prosecution have before Jones is found guilty under an amended indictment? At the close of the jury trial, the prosecution sought to amend Anthony Jones' indictment and charge him as a habitual offender. Prior to sentencing, Jones prepared his defense to this indictment, arguing that his previous crimes were not applicable under the recidivism statute. However, at sentencing, the prosecution sought to amend the indictment again, to correct a date of one of Jones' convictions. This amendment not only prejudiced Jones' defense, the court failed to include this amendment in the court record. As the habitual offender indictment stands, Jones is not properly sentenced under the recidivism statue and this case should be reversed and

of de of the second

remanded.



ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING JONES AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER A FATALLY DEFECTIVE INDICTMENT

defendant under the actidivism statute. The issue in this case, however, is that the court further altered a material element in the already amended habitual offender indictment. This twice- altered indictment proved to be fatally defective. The court should not have allowed the prosecution to materially alter the habitual offender indictment by changing the date to one of Jones' prior convictions. In addition, this amended indictment was ineffective because the trial court failed to include an order that allowed the amendment. For these reasons, the court should reverse Jones' sentence and remand this case to the trial court for re-sentencing.

a. Standard of Review

"The question of whether an indictment is fatally defective is an issue of law and deserves a relatively broad standard of review by this Court." *Peterson v. State*, 671 So. 2d 647, 652 (Miss. 1996) (overruled on other grounds). The Court reviews questions of law *de novo. Debrow v. State*, 972 So. 2d 550, 552 (¶6) (Miss. 2007).

b. The Prosecution Should Not Have Been Allowed to Amend the Indictment by Changing the Dates of Jones' Prior Conviction

A change to an indictment may be permissible if the change does not materially alter the facts of the originally stated offense or materially alter a defense that would have been previously available under the original indictment. *Shelby v. State*, 246 So. 2d 543, 545 (Miss. 1971). The issue is whether changing the dates on Jones' prior convictions amounted to a defect of form or substance.

While trial courts may allow amendments to correct the form of an indictment, substantive changes in the indictment must be corrected by a grand jury. *Spears v. State*, 942 So. 2d 772, 774 (¶6) (Miss. 2006). In this case, the amendment to the conviction dates was a change of substance that deprived Jones of a previously available defense, and therefore was impermissible.

Jones does not take issue with the court's authority to change the original indictment to charge a defendant as a habitual offender. "Amending an indictment in order to charge a defendant as a habitual offender affects only sentencing and not the substance of the offense charged. Therefore, such an amendment is permissible." Williams v. State, 766 So. 2d 815, 817 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). However, the court's second amendment to the habitual offender indictment, changing the date of his previous conviction, was a change of substance, and not a change of form.

Prior to the amended habitual offender indictment, Jones's defense counsel was prepared to argue that Jones' convictions did not meet the statutory requirements under Miss. Code. Ann. Section 99-19-81. Under the recidivism statute, the state had to prove that Jones' previous convictions were "... separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times. ... "Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-81 (emphasis added).

At the close of the jury trial, and again at the sentencing hearing, the defense argued that Jones' previous convictions - attempted unlawful driving away an automobile and attempted fleeing a police officer in the third degree - arose out of the same set of circumstances and events. Tr. 277. The defense indicated that these convictions were also not "separately brought" since Jones was convicted of both offenses on October 7, 2002.

At the sentencing hearing, however, the prosecution asked to court to amend the habitual offender indictment because Jones' convictions did not occur on the same day. Rather, the indictment should have been corrected to show that the attempted fleeing for a police officer

conviction occurred on November 15, 2002. According to the prosecutor, the indicted offenses could not have been a part of the same occurrence because the convictions arose from incidents that occurred roughly three months a part from one another.

Amendments and corrections to dates are liberally allowed if the time is not an essential element of the particular crime charged in the indictment. *Wilson v. State*, 515 So. 2d. 1181, 1182 (Miss. 1985). In this instance, the dates of the previous convictions were a material element of the habitual offender indictment.

"The test for determining whether the defendant is prejudiced by the amendment depends on whether a defense under the original indictment would be equally available under the amended indictment." *Eakes v. State*, 665 So. 2d 852, 859 (Miss. 1995). Had the habitual offender indictment properly contained the accurate dates of Jones' previous convictions (October 7, 2002 and November 15, 2002), the defense counsel could not have argued before the court that these previous convictions arose out of the same set of circumstances because the dates of conviction were more than one month apart. As the unamended habitual offender indictment stood, Jones was not properly notified as to the charges he would have to defend.

Because of the fatally defective indictment in this case, justice requires that Jones's sentence be reverse and that his case be remanded to the trial court for re-sentencing. However, the trial court errors do not end at this issue. In addition to the fatally defective indictment, the court failed to enter its order amending the indictment into the court records. The amended habitual offender indictment should be deemed ineffective due to the lack of an order amending the habitual offender indictment.

c. The Amended Indictment Was Ineffective Because the Trial Court Failed to Include the Order Allowing Amendment

Mississippi law provides that "[t]he order of the court for amendment of the indictment,

record, or proceedings provided in Section 99-17-13¹, *shall* be entered in the minutes, and *shall* specify precisely the amendment, and *shall* be a part of the record." Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-17-15 (Rev. 2007) (emphasis added).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has placed the burden on the State to make sure that the trial court order amending the indictment appears in the record. *Sturgis v. State*, 379 So. 2d 534, 536 (Miss. 1980). However, in order to preserve the error for appeal, the defense must object to the absence of the order. *Id*.

There are exceptions to the defendant's requirement to have a noted objection on the record. In *Reed v. State*, 506 So. 2d 534, 536 (Miss. 1980), the trial court thwarted the defense's attempts to the object to the absence of the order amending the indictment. The prosecution failed to ask the trial court to include the order granting the indictment and failed to include the order in the record. The Court held that the attempted amended order was therefore ineffective.

In this case, neither the court nor the prosecution attempted to enter the order that amended the habitual offender indictment. Defense counsel did not object to the absence of the order either. However, this analysis should turn on, rather, whether there was a fatal variance between the indictment and the proof presented at trial. As the original habitual offender indictment stands, Jones is not properly informed about the previous charges that the State sought to use against him in sentencing him as a habitual offender.

CONCLUSION

The trial court improperly amended the habitual offender indictment. For this reason, Jones

¹In summary, Section 99-17-13 provides that, in criminal proceedings, whenever there is a variance between the statement of the indictment and the proof of the evidence presented, the court should determine if the variance is material to the merits of the case. The statute then gives the procedure in which the court should handle the variance.

was sentenced under a fatally defective indictment. Even more, the court's order amending the habitual offender indictment, was not placed in the court records. Jones requests that this Honorable Court reverse and remand this case for re-sentencing.