## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**ANTHONY P. JONES** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-2017

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of ROBBERY BY USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issue or issues on this appeal concern the propriety of an alleged amendment to the indictment in this cause as to the habitual offender allegations of the indictment, and the propriety of the habitual offender sentenced meted out to the Appellant. There being no issues raised in this appeal requiring a discussion of the facts demonstrating the Appellant's guilt for armed robbery, it will not needful to set out those facts. A discussion of the facts appurtenant to the issues raised by the Appellant will be set out in our argument in response to the Appellant's argument.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT UNDER AUTHORITY OF MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 99-19-81 (REV. 2007) AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT UNDER AUTHORITY OF MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 99-19-81 (Rev. 2007) AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER

### **ARGUMENT**

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT UNDER AUTHORITY OF MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 99-19-81 (Rev. 2007) AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER

**FACTS** 

In the indictment exhibited against the Appellant, it was alleged that the Appellant had been previously convicted on 7 October 2002 in the Circuit Court of Genessee County, Michigan of the felony of attempted unlawful driving away of an automobile, and sentenced thereon to serve a term of twenty to thirty months imprisonment, and that, on the same date and in the same court, the Appellant had been convicted of the felony of attempted police officer feeling (*sic*), and sentenced thereon to twenty to thirty months imprisonment. The State of Mississippi sought sentencing under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81 (Rev. 2007) on the basis of these prior convictions. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 8).

After the jury returned its verdict convicting the Appellant of armed robbery, the trial court began a sentencing hearing. The State introduced into evidence a "pen pack" from the Michigan

The Appellant claims that the State moved to amend Her indictment so as to allege habitual offender status after trial. (Brief for the Appellant, at 4.). However, the Appellant appears to have been tried on an amended indictment dated 29 April 2009, which alleged habitual offender status, trial occurring on the second and third of December, 2009. The particular prior offenses alleged in the indictment were those proven at the sentencing hearing. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 8 - 9; Vol. 2, pg. 8). It is clear that the Appellant had been charged as an habitual offender prior to his arraignment. (R.; Vol. 2, pg. 2). We do not find that the State moved to amend the indictment so as to charge habitual offender status at the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial, and the Appellant provides no citation to the record to support his claim that the indictment was amended subsequent to the guilt phase of the trial so as to allege habitual offender status.

Department of Corrections, certified by that Department, documenting the fact that the Appellant had been convicted of and sentenced and for the felonies alleged in the indictment. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 274; Exhibit 33).

The Appellant asserted that the felonies established by the "pen pack" and alleged in the indictment arose out of the same set circumstances and did not arise out of "separate circumstances". The defense sought a hearing on the issue, and it further requested a pre-sentence investigation. The court then set a date and time for a hearing. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 275.).

At the hearing, the defense renewed its argument that the Michigan felonies alleged in the indictment and established by the "pen pack" arose from the same "set of circumstances and events". It further asserted that felonies used to enhance sentence under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81 must "arise out of separate incidents at different times".

According to the defense, it was in possession of a report from authorities in Flint County, Michigan concerning the felonies. The Appellant took a vehicle from a rental company and kept it longer than permitted by the company. When an attempt was made to arrest the Appellant, the Appellant fled. The defense maintained that the act of taking or unlawfully keeping the vehicle occurred at the same time as the Appellant's flight from arrest. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 277).

In response, the State asserted that there was a "scribbler's error" on the indictment in that the date of the first felony alleged in the indictment was erroneously alleged to have been 17 October 2002.<sup>2</sup> According to the State, the correct date of that felony was 15 November 2002. The moved to correct the indictment in that regard, to which the defense objected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> We assume that the prosecutor, while attempting to correct what he viewed to be a "scribbler's error" in the indictment, erred in referring to the date as 17 October 2002, as opposed to 7 October 2002.

The State went on to assert that the "pen pack" demonstrated that the Appellant actually had three convictions. In Michigan cause number 02010651, the date of the offense was 15 September 2002. The Appellant was sentenced on that conviction on 15 November 2002. The next conviction was in Michigan cause number 02009352. The date of the offense was said to be 26 December 2001, and the Appellant was sentenced thereon on 7 October 2002. The trial prosecutor then described a third conviction, but, confusingly, referred to it by the same cause number as the last one just set out. However, the prosecutor did point out that the taking of a vehicle occurred and the Appellant's act of fleeing law enforcement officers occurred on different dates.

It was the contention of the defense, though, based at least in part upon the representation by the Appellant himself, that the driving away of a vehicle conviction was separate and distinct from the other charge.

It appears that the trial court found that the events that led to the two convictions set out in the indictment occurred at different times, and sentenced the Appellant as an habitual offender.

( R. Vol. 3, pp. 278 - 282).

We think it will be of material assistance to this Court to review the documents included in the "pen pack," which was admitted into evidence, to understand the basis of and proof for the charge of habitual offender status in the case at bar.

The Appellant, on 23 December 2001, unlawfully took and drove away an automobile. The owner of the automobile filed a complaint. On 26 December 2001 the Appellant was seen in the automobile. As Michigan officers attempted to approach the Appellant, the Appellant sped off and eluded them. The automobile was found and impounded by law enforcement on 27 December 2001. The Appellant was found and arrested on 12 January 2002.

In consequence of the Appellant's actions on 23 and 26 December 2001, the Appellant was

charged with unlawful driving away of a motor vehicle, receiving and concealing stolen property, and fleeing and eluding a police officer. In consequence of a plea bargain, the receiving charge was dropped and the remaining two were amended to attempted offenses. (Exhibit 33, unnumbered page 17).

The Appellant was convicted on these two remaining offenses on 4 February 2002 and sentenced on these convictions on 25 February 2002. The Appellant was sentenced to a term of thirty - six months imprisonment on the unlawful driving away of a motor vehicle offense, and thirty six months imprisonment on the fleeing offense. It appears that the convicting court originally ordered probation for these two sentences. (Exhibit 33, unnumbered pages 28 - 29).

However, on 7 October 2002 the Appellant was actually incarcerated on these two offenses. (Exhibit 33, unnumbered page 30). This occurred because the Appellant was charged with a second and unrelated fleeing offense in September, 2002. (Exhibit 33, unnumbered pages 31 - 32; 39). A description of this second offense of fleeing will be found at unnumbered page 33 of Exhibit 33. As to this second fleeing offense, that offense occurred on 15 September 2002. The Appellant was convicted of it on 21 October 2002, and he was sentenced on 15 November 2002. (Exhibit 33, unnumbered page 40).

A "judgment of sentence and commitment to Department of Corrections" for these three convictions will be found at pages 56 and 57 of Exhibit 33.

### **ARGUMENT**

It does not appear to us from the record that the trial court granted relief on the State's motion ore tenus to amend the indictment so as to change the date of sentencing as to the first conviction alleged in the habitual offender portion of the indictment to 15 November 2002. In our view, though, whether the trial court did or did not do so is unimportant.

What is very clear, as established by the "pen pack," is that the two convictions that occurred on 7 October 2002 arose from separate incidents. The unlawful driving away of a vehicle occurred on 23 December 2001; the fleeing or eluding a police officer occurred on 26 December 2002. The incidents that gave rise to these convictions were temporally and legally separate. While it is possible that the two offenses were prosecuted in one proceeding, in one indictment, if so that would not have adversely affected their availability for habitual sentencing purposes under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81. *Kolb v. State*, 568 So.2d 288 (Miss. 1990).

It may be that the reason law enforcement officers in Michigan attempted to stop the Appellant on 26 December 2002 was related to what the Appellant had done on 23 December 2002, in the sense that they would not have attempted to stop him except for the fact that he was the suspect in unlawfully driving away the car three days before. But that would not make the two offenses committed by the Appellant one incident. While it may be that multiple felonies arising from one incident may count as only one, for purposes of Section 99-19-81, the decisions of the Mississippi Supreme Court make it clear that that rule has application only in an instance in which multiple felonies are committed together without any significant break in time. An example of this would be an instance in which a burglary is committed and then a rape and kidnaping in the course of the burglary. *Riddle v. State*, 413 So.2d 737 (Miss. 1982). Here, though, the Appellant's prior felonies were committed at different times and places. His act of fleeing law enforcement was not part and parcel of his act of unlawfully driving away an automobile. The incidents were clearly separate. The fact that it might have been the taking of the car that later prompted the attempted stop, which occurred days later, does not change this.

Under Section 99-19-81, a person convicted in this State of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate

incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one year or more is eligible for sentencing as provided by that statute. In the case at bar, the two felonies set out in the indictment were separate events, and the Appellant was sentenced separately on each of the convictions arising from those events and to a term of more than one year. Both convictions were available for use to demonstrate habitual offender sentence eligibility. While it may not be entirely clear whether the Appellant actually served one year or more on those sentences, it is unimportant for purposes of the application of Section 99-19-81 whether he did. *Reynolds v. State*, 784 So.2d 929 (Miss. 2001).

As we have said, we have not found in the record that the trial court addressed, much less granted, the State's motion to amend the indictment so as to substitute the 15 November 2002 conviction. It does not appear to us that the court granted relief on the State's motion, in view of the absence of an order granting such relief and in view of the sentencing order, which sets out the Appellant's 7 October 2002 convictions as the bases for habitual offender sentencing. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 50). However, should it be that the Court determines that the trial court did grant relief on the State's motion to amend, the trial court would not have been in error in doing so. *Lacy v. State*, 629 So.2d 591 (Miss. 1993).

The "pen pack" provided by the State established the November, 2002 conviction and some of its details. The Appellant thus was not unfairly surprised by its revelation. The Appellant recognizes that amendments as to dates are matters of form and thus may be amended on motion by the State. The Appellant did not at trial and does not here assert any particular reason as to how or why he was unfairly surprised or prejudiced by any such amendment, and we do not think he credibly could assert such in view of what he knew from the contents of the "pen pack." There would have been no error in allowing an amendment as to the date of the offense.

Peterson v. State, 37 So.3rd 669 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010).

Finally, and again assuming that the trial court amended the indictment in the course of the sentencing hearing, the Appellant is in no position to complain of the lack of an order granting any such amendment. The defense made no motion for such an order, did not object to the lack of such an order, and the issue is barred here. *Doby v. State*, 532 So.2d 584 (Miss. 1988). There is nothing whatever to show that the State thwarted or attempted to thwart the Appellant from objecting to the lack of such an order.

## **CONCLUSION**

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.